Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Heidi Gruhler

Date

Beyond Tuskegee: Qualitative Insights from Older African Americans on Clinical Trial Participation

By

Heidi Gruhler MPH

Behavioral Sciences and Health Education

Paula Frew, PhD, MA, MPH Committee Chair

Ameeta Kalokhe, MD, MSc Committee Member

Colleen McBride, PhD Department Chair

Beyond Tuskegee: Qualitative Insights from Older African Americans on Clinical Trial Participation

By

Heidi Gruhler

Bachelor of Arts Emory University 2013

Thesis Committee Chair: Paula Frew, PhD, MA, MPH

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Behavioral Sciences and Health Education 2015

Abstract

Beyond Tuskegee: Qualitative Insights from Older African Americans on Clinical Trial Participation

By Heidi Gruhler

This study aimed to explore potential facilitators and barriers to clinical trial screening and enrollment participation among older African Americans. Despite efforts to increase enrollment in clinical trials in recent decades for a number of chronic and infectious diseases, clinical trial participation among elderly African Americans remains suboptimal. Therefore an intervention study was conducted entitled "Delivering a Dose of Hope" that sought to reach and influence clinical trial participatory outcomes in Atlanta area Black churches. This intervention also sought to uncover the influencing factors affecting study participation. This qualitative substudy was a component to the "Dose of Hope" program. Baseline (n=18) and Semi-structured in-depth interviews (n=12) were conducted with older African Americans who participated in an education intervention at their church in the metro Atlanta area. Interviews were transcribed verbatim, and coded for common thematic factors related to facilitators and barriers to clinical trial screening and participation. The analyses adopted a modified grounded theory qualitative approach for thematic elicitation. Three major themes were subsequently identified at baseline: Need for Education, Attitudes toward Clinical Trials, and Trust. Six major themes were also identified at follow-up: Lack of Awareness, Motivation to Participate in Clinical Trials, Psychosocial Barriers, Logistical Challenges, and Education Intervention. Lack of awareness was found to precede barriers and facilitators in the decision making process. Lack of awareness, although related to the need for education, emerged as a separate theme. This study successfully elicited a theoretical model that postulates relationships between thematic components how they influence willingness to screen and participate in clinical trials.

Beyond Tuskegee: Qualitative Insights from Older African Americans on Clinical Trial Participation

By

Heidi Gruhler

Bachelor of Arts Emory University 2013

Thesis Committee Chair: Paula Frew, PhD, MA, MPH

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Behavioral Sciences and Health Education 2015

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	1
Background	1
Study Purpose	8
Research Questions	8
LITERATURE REVIEW	9
METHODS1	8
Participants1	8
Study design1	9
Study Procedures	C
Interview Format	1
Analysis	3
RESULTS	5
Qualitative Sample Characteristics	5
Overview of Qualitative Findings	5
Baseline Interviews	5
In Depth Interview Main Themes2	7
DISCUSSION	2
Findings4	2
Conclusions4	6
Strengths4	6
Limitations	7
Implications and Recommendations4	7
REFERENCES	9
FIGURES	4
Baseline Interview Guide	4
In-Depth Interview Guides	5
Precaution Adoption Model	6
TABLES	7
Table 1. Baseline Themes 5	7
Table 2. In-Depth Interview Themes	8

INTRODUCTION

Problem Definition and Justification

It has been well established that the African American community is underrepresented in clinical trial research.¹⁻¹⁴ To address the underrepresentation in 1993 the NIH instituted a policy to increase minority participation in clinical trials, including African American and women.¹⁵ Increasing participation of minorities and those underserved is important in order to create more effective treatments for diseases that disproportionately affect these communities.⁵

Background

The metro Atlanta area is comprised of 26 county regions and is the most populous metro region in Georgia.¹⁶ According to the US Census Bureau, over 5.3 million people live in the metro Atlanta area. Over 1.5 million, 33% of the population is Black or African American.¹⁶ Atlanta has a large number of African Americans. Health disparities disproportionately affect the African American community.³ Health disparities are defined as differences in health that are closely linked with social, economic, or environmental disadvantage.¹⁷ African Americans have faced a long history of discrimination and exclusion, and have systematically experienced greater health disparities.¹⁷

According to the 2013 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Health Disparities and Inequalities Report, data show that in 2009 African Americans had the largest death rates from heart disease and stroke compared to other racial and ethnic groups.¹⁸ Hypertension had the largest prevalence among African American adults 65 years and older.¹⁸ In addition, older African American women had higher prevalence of obesity than white and Mexican American women.¹⁸ According to the same study, prevalence of diabetes among African American adults was twice the prevalence as among white adults.¹⁸

Many of these health disparities lead to increased mortality among African Americans. According to a Nation Vital Statistics Report, in 2013 the top leading causes of death for African Americans were heart disease, cancer, stroke, diabetes and unintentional injuries.¹⁹ Several of these chronic conditions are also leading causes of mortality among older adults.²⁰ Health disparities are tied to the economic, political, and environmental success of a society.²¹ Therefore, in addition to the issues of social justice and equality, there are economic, political, and environmental reasons why health disparities should be eliminated.

Clinical trials help improve medicine by improving the standards of care and quality of life for people with chronic diseases.²² In order to better develop treatments tailored to the African American community based on these health disparities, there has been a call to action to encourage more African Americans to participate in clinical trials and research studies. In order for clinical trials to most effectively improve medicine, studies need to be carried out within a representative sample population to ensure the external validity and generalizability of the study.²³

There have been some studies that have looked at how clinical trials can be used to promote health education and community outreach, which may help overcome education and awareness inequality.²⁴ Increasing enrollment in clinical trials is therefore very important in order to address health disparities that affect African Americans. In 2013 the department of Health and Human Services published an Action Plan to Reduce Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities which included clinical trials as one strategy to reduce racial health disparities.²⁵ In this action plan, conducting research is one strategy to advance scientific

knowledge and innovation.²⁵ Despite the fact that African Americans share a greater burden of diseases and would benefit, they remain underrepresented in clinical trials.⁹ Obstacles to African American recruitment and participation in clinical trials have been difficult to overcome.

There have been many studies that have looked at the recruitment and barriers to increasing African American enrollment and participation in research.^{3, 5, 6, 23, 26, 27} Some of these barriers include fears and mistrust that stem from a legacy of historical abuse, a lack of awareness and education about clinical trials. Addressing fears and mistrust established in the African American community is difficult because there is a long history of abuse. Overcoming awareness and education can be difficult when fears and mistrust are present. Despite the research and identification of barriers in the last decade, African Americans, especially older African Americans are still underrepresented in clinical trial research. This is due in part to the challenges in overcoming the legacy of Tuskegee which have lead to fears and mistrust of the medical community, and the challenges of bringing in trustworthy education and awareness about clinical trials.

Community-Based Participatory Research

Community-based participatory research (CBPR) has emerged as an important research tool to address reducing health disparities by integrating education and social action into the research project.^{28, 29} CBPR focuses on building relationships between community and academic partners. In another recent study, researchers found that one of the main successes of using CBPR was that it brought the research into the community to increase awareness and knowledge.³⁰ In 2012, Corbie-Smith et al. demonstrated that a more innovated and engaged approach, including research as part of the prevention and care can help foster improved health for minorities.³¹

Furthermore, recently researchers found evidence to support that utilizing CBPR reduces health disparities by using research itself as a force for social change as well as enhancing health by participating in the research process.²⁸ Some studies have demonstrated CBPR has been shown to be more effective in reaching the African American community by bringing research into a community with their consent and allowing a community to bring their own knowledge and insight into the research process.^{32,35} The goals of CBPR are to improve health outcomes and reduce disparities through strengthening the intervention with community insight.²⁸ Therefore, using a CBPR approach may prove useful in overcoming many of the fears and mistrust toward clinical trials among African Americans.

Faith and Church

The church has been a centerpiece in African American life socially, politically, and spiritually. According to the Pew Research Center, 78% of African Americans are affiliated with evangelical or mainline protestant churches, and almost 80% of all African Americans cite religion as being a major influence in their life.³⁶ Bringing an intervention to a community via faith communities increases the exposure and chances that the intervention can reach the African American community and have a trustworthy impact.^{32, 37, 38} In the past, African American churches have been supportive of health promotion initiatives.³⁹ Specifically in the south, the church is a trusted institution and a powerful community force for personal behavior change.⁴⁰⁻⁴²

There have been several successful faith-based interventions and studies conducted in church communities.^{11, 30, 32, 35, 37, 38, 43, 44} Further studies support the idea that faith networks and religious behaviors can be associated with positive health outcomes.^{45, 46} Most recently researchers found that churches with young and educated pastors were associated with congregant attitudes about research participation.⁴⁷ Another study also showed that a African American church based pilot program was successful in increasing awareness about clinical trials among its' congregants.³⁰ These studies highlight the success of working with faith-based communities and demonstrate this as a possible way to reach the African American community with health interventions.

Barriers to Participation

There are several studies that have suggested a plethora of barriers to clinical trial participation for African Americans.⁴⁸⁻⁵³ In a recent report, researchers discussed three main barriers that affect African Americans' participation in clinical research: historic barriers, societal barriers, and healthcare access barriers.⁵ Historic barriers include the fear and mistrust that stem from historical abuses such as the Tuskegee study as well as the segregation and discrimination that dates back to slavery. Societal barriers relate to the fact that African Americans tend to live in close communities still separate from other groups. These societal barriers create a set of social norms related to research which include mistrust of doctors, scientists, and the government; concern about ethics; and believing that investigators would treat minorities unfairly.⁵ Access to healthcare relates to socioeconomic factors including education, employment, and health insurance status, all of which limit African Americans' participation in clinical trials.⁵ The same study also suggests that partnering with the African American community may help overcome many of these barriers.

There is also evidence that even with direct access to research studies in the community, African Americans and minorities are underrepresented in HIV/AIDS research.¹ The study found that there were several factors that influence participation in HIV/AIDS clinical trials, including trials having a reputation for not being friendly to other

African Americans, a lack of knowledge and understanding about clinical trials, as well as fears of being a guinea pig.¹

Past historical abuses of African Americans has lead to mistrust and fear of the medical community, especially research.^{49, 52, 53} One of these main fears and mistrust of the biomedical community is being used as a guinea pig for research in the past. Researchers have found that the issue of trust was a common theme influencing participation in research among minorities.^{54, 55} Several recent studies have found that issues of trust might factor into the low levels of minority clinical trial participation.⁸ Tuskegee is the most cognizant abuse in the resent past and therefore is often used to describe these fears.⁴⁸ However, a recent study has found that knowledge of Tuskegee doesn't impact the willingness to participate to the extent other studies have shown, but instead contributed to overall distrust of medical research.⁵⁵

Education and a lack of awareness have also been identified as barriers that influence willingness to participate in clinical trials.^{23, 51, 54, 56-59} Several studies have found that general attitudes toward research participation and medicine impact willingness to participate in clinical trials. Clinical trial awareness and knowledge have also influence willingness to participate.^{2, 5, 27, 44, 54, 56, 58, 60, 61} In a study looking at what factors were associated with clinical trial awareness, researchers found that among African Americans, education, trust and mistrust of health information were correlated with being less likely to have heard of a clinical trial than white participants.⁵⁶ In this same study, researchers argued that awareness was the most important factor because it precedes other factors and was in part, an explanation for lower African American participation in trials.⁵⁶

Theoretical Framework

Previous studies have utilized both quantitative and qualitative methods. However, few of these studies have also situated their findings within a behavioral theory or framework. The socioecological model (SEM) has been used to understand societal, community, relationship, and individual influences on health behavior and promotion.⁶² In 2011, the (SEM) was introduced as a possible framework to understand socioecological influences on community involvement in HIV vaccine research.⁶³

Another previously used theory is Fishbein and Ajzen's Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA) which integrates individual behavioral attitudes and social subjective norms as predictors of behavioral outcomes.^{64, 65} Two previous studies have specifically looked at willingness to participate in clinical trials using the TRA.^{66, 67} This study found that willingness to participate was not fully explained using TRA. Recent studies have tested an extended model of reasoned action to understand factors that influence African Americans' participation in HIV vaccine research.⁶⁸ This study found that there are other factors organizational and social factors that influence intention in addition to behavior attitudes and subjective norms.⁶⁸ These and other studies emphasize the importance of attitudes and beliefs as being important predictors of behavior and show how valuable it is to situate a study within a behavioral framework.

Another relevant model that may help provide a framework is the Precaution Adoption Process model (PAPM). This stage theory was developed by Weinstein in the 1980s and further developed into a model with colleagues in 2008.⁶⁹ PAPM asserts that behavior change is explained through sequencing through different stages.⁶⁹ In the decision making process, sequencing through different stages, researchers postulates that individuals move through each stage in order, beginning with awareness.⁶⁹ In a recent study, researchers used the PAPM to work with older adults to reduce the risks of falling.⁷⁰ This study shows that the precaution adoption model can be applied in older populations to address health behaviors.

Study Purpose

There has been extensive research into interventions and barriers to African American and minority participation in clinical trials. However, in addition to identifying barriers, it is also necessary to understand how barriers interact with other factors including education and awareness, to influence willingness to participate in clinical trial research. More research is needed to understand what other factors are influencing willingness to participate in clinical trials, and how these factors interact with barriers and facilitators. A more complete understanding of what drives African Americans' willingness to participate in clinical trials is important in order to create more effective and impactful interventions to increase clinical trial participation and ultimately eliminate racial and ethnic health disparities. A qualitative study is necessary to explore in detail and understand the nuanced relationship between these factors. Although many barriers and facilitators have been identified, a better understanding of the relationship between these factors and willingness to participate in clinical trials will be more useful for future interventions to be more effective.

Research Questions

The purpose of this study is to understand facilitators and barriers to clinical trial participation. This study also sought to understand how the educational intervention entitled "Delivering a Dose of Hope" influenced clinical trial participation among older African Americans in the metro Atlanta community who were regular church congregants.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Racial Health Disparities

Health disparities exist when social, economic, or environmental disadvantage influence differences in health.¹⁷ It has been well established that minorities, including African Americans are more burdened by health disparities for diseases like diabetes, cardiovascular disease and HIV resulting in health disparities.^{6, 9, 11, 12, 14, 27, 71} Racial health disparities are even more prominent among seniors.^{72,74} Older populations often have comorbidies, such as hypertension, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease, which poses an extra challenge in clinical trial participation.^{75, 76} There are several factors leading to underrepresentation of the older in clinical trials including comorbidies, greater fear and mistrust of the medical establishment due to past historical abuses, and transportation challenges.⁷⁷ In focus groups, Owens et al.2013 found that older African American's are less likely to participate in clinical trial research than younger African Americans because they grew up and heard more about historical abuses.⁷⁷ Health disparities lead to greater morbidity and mortality among African Americans.^{78, 79}Increasing participating in clinical trials may be one avenue to reduce health disparities among African Americans.

Representative participation in clinical trials is important so that the results of clinical trials can be generalized to the population. These disparities in clinical trial participation pose barriers to development and delivery of appropriate medical therapies for African Americans. Increasing African American participation in clinical trials is an important step forward toward eliminating health disparities.^{23, 25, 40}

Although clinical trials may be useful in reducing racial health disparities, there is still low willingness to participate in clinical trials among African Americans.^{80, 81} Barriers such as

9

fears, mistrust, a lack of education, and access to healthcare have all been noted as factors that influence African American willingness to participate in clinical research trials.

Willingness to Participate in Clinical Trials

Willingness to participate in clinical trials is an important factor in being able to recruit African Americans in clinical trials. Owens et al. 2013 showed that willingness to participate in clinical trials hinged on several factors including motivators like money (e.g., compensation for participation), specific knowledge of the study procedures, free healthcare, and barriers like mistrust, transportation, and a complicated informed consent procedure.⁷⁷ The study also found that assurance of safety and general clinical trial awareness and education were important factors influencing willingness to participate in research.⁷⁷

Understanding the decision making process that arrives at willingness to participate is important to consider when understanding why so many African Americans are not willing to participate in clinical trials and medical research. Shavers et al. 2002 detailed the relationship between race and willingness to participate in medical research as an issue of trust toward medicine.⁵⁵ However, in this study they found that knowledge of Tuskegee didn't impact the willingness to participate, but instead contributed to overall distrust of medical research.⁵⁵ In another study, Corbie-Smith et al. 1999 conducted a focus group with African American outpatients at an urban public hospital in Atlanta and found trusting research and medicine was a common theme.⁵⁴ These studies show that there may be other factors beyond historic abuses such as Tuskegee which influence African Americans' trust of research and medicine. Barriers to Clinical Trial participation

Studies have suggested a plethora of barriers to clinical trial participation for African Americans. In a 2014 systematic review George et al. found that mistrust and lack of access to information as the most cited barriers to clinical trial participation among minorities including African Americans.⁸² The study points out that fears and mistrust often have their root in the Tuskegee Syphilis study, however fears and mistrust can also be associated with not believing that the research will benefit the community, and a mistrust of researchers themselves.⁸² Fisher and Kalbaugh found that issues of trust might factor into the low levels of minority clinical trial participation.⁸

There are several barriers that influence African American participation in clinical research, including historic barriers, societal barriers, and healthcare access barriers.⁵ Because of the memory of historical abuses like the Tuskegee experiments in the 1930s, African Americans are hesitant and more cautious about participating in research. Although many of the historical abuses are less likely to occur today because of ethical review boards, community advisory boards, and federal oversight, the knowledge of historic research abuses is still a deterrent. Societal barriers include reading level and the education of participants as well as living in segregated or tight-knit communities which can create societal mores related to research.⁵

Healthcare access barriers included factors related to education, employment and health insurance as hindrances to participating in clinical research.⁵ Access to healthcare is often discussed alongside health disparities, so it makes sense that it would also influence willingness to participate in clinical trials.

In another study, Owens et. al.2013 conducted focus groups with African American men and women in the south.⁷⁷ Researchers found that the most often discussed barriers

were fear related to mistrust of clinical research, the uncertainty of research, a lack of knowledge, and physical discomfort of participating as well as time constraints.⁷⁷ In this same study, participants also noted the time commitment/schedule as a barrier to participating as well as transportation problems.⁷⁷ These studies have identified many barriers to clinical trial participation.

Therapeutic Misconception

There have been a few published studies detailing therapeutic misconception, or the idea of getting free healthcare, or primary healthcare by participating in clinical trials. Understanding what motivates people to participate in clinical trials is important for recruiting efforts among African Americans.

Much of the research into the ethics of therapeutic misconception has been related to participation in cancer trials. In a 2014 study, Burke examined cancer clinical trial recruitment in the US safety net hospital, and how therapeutic misconception plays a large role in the recruitment process.⁸³ Burke study found that there is often confusion between the concepts of participating in research and getting medical treatment. For one of the interviewed participants, details about why the research was being conducted was just as important as what is being done.⁸³ Owens et al. study also found that although mentioned least often as a motivator, getting free healthcare was still emerged as a factor in clinical trial participation.⁷⁷ Lack of access to healthcare has been noted as a barrier to clinical trial participation, but also a large factor influencing health disparities that exist between African Americans and other ethnic and racial groups.⁷⁷

In a 2014 systematic review of barriers and facilitators to minority research participation among African Americans, George et al. found that one of the benefits to clinical trial participation was free healthcare. The authors raised some concerns with receiving healthcare primarily through participating in clinical trials as a motivator to participate in trials.⁸² Although receiving healthcare is important, participants should not feel obligated to participate in a trial in order to receive healthcare. Unethically recruiting participants based on their need for healthcare is not ethical and should be avoided when recruiting African Americans into clinical trials.

Attitudes, Awareness, and Education

Attitudes toward research and medicine, perceptions of clinical trials, and education and awareness of research are factors that impact willingness to participate in clinical trials.^{2, 5,} ^{27, 44, 54, 56, 58, 60, 61} Past studies have showed a negative attitude toward clinical trials and research among African Americans.⁵⁴ These negative attitudes toward clinical trials were attributed to fears and mistrust stemming from knowledge of the Tuskegee study.⁵⁰ Recently however, studies have consistently showed a change in attitudes.^{30, 82} In 2012, Colo-Otero et. al. piloted a program to increase awareness of the importance of cancer research and participation in research studies among African Americans.³⁰ This study found that African American have generally positive attitudes towards clinical trials and research, and were willing and interested in participating in cancer research.³⁰ Although attitudes and willingness to participate were evident, this pilot program demonstrated that a lack of awareness about the importance of cancer research and a need for education programs focused on the African American community.³⁰ However, despite generally positive attitudes toward clinical trials and research, African American participation in clinical trials is still low.

In 2013, Brown et al. recruited cancer patients who had been approached by a clinical to consider participating in a cancer clinical trial in the last 3 months to complete survey's and interviews with the goal of better understand reasons African Americans

refused to participate in the cancer trials.⁸⁴ This study found that 41% of study participants had no prior knowledge or opinions about clinical trials and that the majority of participants expressed the need for information.⁸⁴ The same study also found that participants felt they had the ability to understand and participate in care.⁸⁴ Although this study focused on participant knowledge, it didn't address the lack of knowledge of the clinical trial process and issues of therapeutic misconception. In the study, many of the refusers cited they were concerned the randomization of treatment and wanted to know they would be getting before agreeing to participate.⁸⁴

Langford et al. 2010 conducted a study using the National Cancer Institute's 2007 Health Information National Trends Survey data to examine the association of race/ethnicity on clinical trial awareness.⁵⁶ They found that African Americans were significantly less likely than whites to have heard of a clinical trial.⁵⁶ This same study found several other factors that correlated with of clinical trial awareness including education, trust and mistrust of health information.⁵⁶ In this study, awareness was the most important factor because it was in part, an explanation for lower African American participation in trials.⁵⁶ In another study Lara et al. looked at factors affecting awareness of and willingness to participate in cancer clinical trials.⁵⁸ This study found a similar relationship demonstrating awareness of clinical trials was associated with willingness to participate.⁵⁸ This same study also found that lower levels of clinical trial awareness among African Americans.

These studies have showed that a lack of awareness and a lack of knowledge about trials, and research lead to decreased interest or willingness to participating. Awareness and education are important factors in the decision making process and more research is needed to understand the relationships between awareness and education and willingness to participate in clinical trials. Many of these studies grouped awareness and education together, yet they are separate issues and involve different intervention strategies. To increase education, an education intervention is needed, whereas to increase awareness a targeted communication campaign may be enough to overcome a lack of awareness about clinical trials. Understanding how these two factors overlap and in what ways they are similar may help when developing targeted education and communication strategies. It is also not clear how other factors may influence willingness to participate and differences between lack of awareness, and the need for education in the overall decision-making process. There may be other important factors underlying or driving the need for knowledge and lack of awareness that need to be identified and addressed through separate interventions as well as addressed together.

Previous Interventions

There has been a need for more innovative interventions to increase clinical trial enrollment among racial and ethnic minorities. To increase diverse enrollment in clinical trials, researchers have used CBPR, and Patient Navigator programs to improve enrollment outcomes.⁸⁵ Ghebre et al. reviewed how Patient Navigation was used as a strategy to increase minority enrollment in clinical trials.⁸⁵ Although they found that many programs utilizing patient navigators were aimed at increasing awareness and access to clinical trials, they also found low support and trust in the community for these programs. The researchers stressed there is more evidence needed on the effectiveness of patient navigator systems for increasing minority enrollment in clinical trials.⁸⁵

Although these interventions have all been focused on different health topics, a common theme has been trying to break through and engage at the community and individual level. Corbie-Smith and colleagues argue that a more innovated and engaged approach, including research as part of the prevention and care can help foster improved

health for minorities.³¹ However this engaged research as part of medical care poses other ethical issues surrounding therapeutic misconception.

In a pilot program Colon-Otero et al. collaborated with African American Churches to test an education intervention designed to increase awareness of the importance of cancer research and participation in cancer research among African Americans.³⁰ Researchers found that the pilot program successfully increased awareness of cancer research trials among African Americans.³⁰ They also found that most participants had little knowledge or education on the importance of cancer research, despite being interested and willing to participate. One of the main successes of this pilot program was that it brought the research into the community to increase awareness and knowledge.³⁰

Theory and justification for qualitative study

Unfortunately, there are many factors that limit clinical trial participation among older African Americans that are not well understood within a theoretical framework. Studies keep pointing to the same topics of fear and mistrust, lack of awareness and education as key factors for engaging the African American community in research studies. However, there is the need for further exploration to understand the relationship between these factors. Thus exploratory research is needed to better understand how the process of engaging these communities is affecting willingness to participate in clinical trials.

Despite several studies identifying many barriers, there is still a need to understand how those barriers fit into the decision making process and how those barriers influence willingness to participate in a clinical trial. A more thorough understanding of the decision making process and attitudinal pathway will give insight to better focus interventions to increase African American clinical trial participation. In-depth understanding of an individuals' attitudes and perceptions is best suited to qualitative in-depth interviews. As part of a randomized intervention study, we will conduct follow up interviews in order to explore the perspectives of individuals on attitudes toward clinical trials.

Utilizing a grounded theory qualitative approach, this study will explore potential facilitators and barriers to clinical trial screening and participation. There has been extensive research into interventions and barriers to African American and minority participation in clinical trials. In addition to understanding barriers, it is also necessary to understand the process African Americans experience when making decisions regarding clinical trial participation. More research is needed to understand what other factors are influencing the decision making balance between barriers and facilitators. A qualitative study is warranted to further explore and understand factors that may influence African American clinical trial participation. Although many barriers and facilitators have been identified, a better understanding of how these factors influence willingness to participate in clinical trials will be useful for future interventions. Specifically, differentiating between awareness and education as influencing factors may help innovative interventions be more effective. Exploring these relationships and factors can be done using a modified grounded theory approach.

METHODS

This research project is a qualitative substudy of the primary Dose of Hope (DOH) intervention. The DOH intervention is a faith-based intervention which intended to positively influence older (age greater than or equal to 50 Years) African American adults' attitudes towards research and medical clinical trials. The intervention aimed to increase enrollment of intervention participants in ongoing clinical trials. Qualitative interviews will add context and a deeper understanding of potential barriers and facilitators for clinical trial participation among older African American. These interviews will also explore how attitudes and knowledge may have changed from participating in the DOH intervention. The interviews will also explore any potential barriers and facilitators to participating in clinical research trials.

Participants

Participants for baseline and in-depth interviews were recruited from all the volunteers who had already participated in either the intervention or control groups of the initial DOH program. Participants for the baseline interviews were asked after one of the DOH sessions to answer a few questions. To have been eligible for the program and the follow-up interviews, participants must have been over the age of 50, been a standing member of one of the participating churches, a resident of the metro Atlanta area, and self identified as black/African American. Exclusion criteria for the program included moving within the year of the DOH program, previous participation in a clinical trial or faith-based intervention, or not being able to attend all three sessions of the program.

Potential participants for in-depth interviews included those who screened to participate in clinical trials but did not enroll by October 2014 (n=11), those who screened and enrolled in a trial by October 2014 (n=6), those who did not screen or enroll in a clinical

trial by October 2014, (n=177) and those who refused participation in a clinical trial (n=19). Participants were recruited from the program for 1 month from November to December 2014. Interviews took place at the participants' church, their home, or at the DOH clinic to accommodate participant preference. The locations were convenient, familiar, and comfortable for the participants.

Study design

DOH qualitative data collection points had two time points. The first time point was during the intervention and control group information sessions. Participants from each group were asked quick qualitative interview questions after participating in a session at either three or six month time points. The goal of the informal interviews was to understand participant perceptions of the DOH study, perceptions of health concerns, barriers to health education and clinical trials within the community, as well as understanding what information they learned from the sessions. Each interview participant received a \$20 gift card incentive. In between sessions, both groups were sent information by phone and through email, and invited to participate in ongoing health-related studies. After the program, participants screening, enrolling, and refusing participation in clinical trials was tracked.

Follow-up in-depth interviews were collected after the six month time point and before the end of the one year follow-up period. The follow-up in depth interviews were designed to capture attitudes toward the DOH program, knowledge and attitudes toward clinical research, participant intention to participate in clinical research after either the intervention or control session, and understand what barriers exist to participating in clinical research after participating in the DOH program. Each participant received a \$20 gift card incentive for the interview. Study Procedures

The DOH program involved an intervention group and a control group. The intervention group had three workshops, one at baseline, one at three months, and one at 6 months. Each session lasted approximately 1.5 to 3 hours. The intervention sessions were given information on health disparities, clinical research, and health risks. These sessions were given by DOH staff, physicians, external health practitioners, health ministers, and church staff. The sessions were composed of didactic instruction, group discussions, as well as interactive games. The control group sessions included basic health information that would be relevant to seniors and older adults.

Investigators utilized a community randomized sampling method to create the study sampling frame for churches. Churches were comprised of greater than or equal to 60% African American congregants. Six churches were randomly selected of three different denominations (Baptist, Seventh-Day Adventist, and African Methodist Episcopal) and then paired matching on denomination and size. All six churches were randomly assigned 'intervention' or 'control' status. Pastors and other faith leaders at each of the selected churches reached out to their respective congregations inviting those for those who fit the inclusion criteria to participate in the program.

All study administrators were CITI certified in Social and Behavioral Research. The study was approved by the Emory IRB. Before participating in the DOH program, all participants were given consent forms which were read individually by participants as well as read aloud by study staff. Staff answered all questions and participants signed consent forms before beginning interventions or participation in any part of the DOH study, including the qualitative interviews. At follow-up, study administrators reviewed consent verbally before beginning in-depth interviews. Interviews were double recorded with digital voice recorders

and immediately transferred onto the secure Emory drive. All data was transcribed verbatim, de-identified, and stored on the secure Emory drive. Data was analyzed in MaxQDA software, version 11. Recordings were destroyed after transfer to Emory drive and analysis was complete.

Interview Format

Informal baseline interviews were conducted after the first DOH session and three month sessions for both intervention and control groups. Questions included:

What motivated you to participate in this study? Could you tell me about your thoughts on clinical trials and medical research? Could you please describe a little bit about your community? What does it mean to you to be part of the black community? How does the black community feel about clinical research? How do you think we can address the fears and myths surrounding clinical research? How do you think we can get the black community involved in clinical research? How can researchers find out about the concerns that exist in the black community? Where do people in your congregation get their health information?

In-depth interviews were conducted after the six-month session and before the one year tracking period ended. Field guide development was guided by the results from informal baseline interviews conducted during the DOH program sessions. All interviews were conducted by a study investigator in-person. Each interview last between 15 and 70 minutes. Interview questions asked about attitudes and impressions of the Dose of Hope program, why or why not they chose to enroll in a clinical trial, and any barriers that stopped a participant from enrolling in a clinical trial. Sample questions included: For those who enrolled in a clinical trial:

A1: What was your impression of the Dose of Hope Program? What did you like or dislike? Why did you join?

A2: Why did you to contact the research team about joining the clinical trial [insert trial name here]?

A3: Why did you enroll?

A4: What do you think about clinical trials now that you have participated in one?

A5: Do you think you would enroll in another clinical trial? Would you (or have you) recommend(ed) clinical trial participation to others?

For those who screened for a clinical trial but did not enroll:

B1: What was your impression of the Dose of Hope Program? What did you like or dislike? Why did you join?

B2: Why did you to contact the research team about joining the clinical trial [insert trial name here]?

B3: Why didn't you enroll? Were there transportation issues, medical exclusions, scheduling issues, or something else? Do you feel like you had enough information to make a decision to enroll?

B4: Would you ever try enrolling in another clinical trial? Why or why not?

For those who neither screened nor enrolled in a clinical trial:

C1: What was your impression of the Dose of Hope Program? What did you like or dislike? Why did you join?

C2: Why didn't you enroll in a clinical trial? Were there transportation issues, medical exclusions, scheduling issues, or something else? Do you feel like you had enough information to make a decision to enroll?

C3: Would you ever try enrolling in a clinical trial? Why or why not? What type of clinical trial might you be interested in?

Analysis

After transcription, a four part systematic analysis was conducted. The coding framework was developed using a modified grounded theory approach. Grounded theory was developed as an analytic method by Glazer and Strauss in the 1960s to develop theory through qualitative analysis of data.^{86, 87} This approach uses constant comparison of transcripts, analyzing cases that deviated from others, and identifying emergent and anticipated themes.⁸⁷

Part 1: Open coding

Preliminary/exploratory analysis

Part 2: Axial Coding

Hierarchical Coding (reduction and clustering)

Part 3: Selective and discrete coding

Validation of codes

Restructure into final coding scheme

Part 4: Advanced analysis (content, domain analysis)

Theoretical Modeling and Theory Development

In part 1, all transcripts for both preliminary interviews and in-depth interviews were coded using MaxQDA 11. Initial open coding was done based on invivo codes that emerged from the transcripts. These codes were further refined in part 2 with axial and hierarchical coding. The codebook from initial interviews was developed based on identifying text associated with particular questions. Both inductive and deductive codes (from the baseline interviews) were used to code in-depth interviews. In part 3, selective and discrete coding was done along with double coding to ensure intercoder reliability validate the code structure. The codebook was further refined and restructured based on intercoder agreement exercises into a final coding scheme. Part 4 of the analysis consisted of advanced content and domain analysis as well as theoretical modeling. After fitting the codes into a concept map, the main themes and concepts were modeled into an established theoretical framework.

Intercoder reliability Assessment

The transcripts for both informal and for in-depth interviews were double coded by two members of the research team. The intercoder agreement of structural coding was assessed by independently coding 20% of the transcripts (4 Baseline and 3 In-depth). They were compared using MaxQDA 11. The intercoder reliability kappa coefficient measures the agreement between two independent coders to rigorously quantify the intercoder agreement to increase the reliability of the data. The aggregate average Kappa coefficient was >.80 for the in-depth interviews after discussing discordance in the coding.

RESULTS

Qualitative Sample Characteristics

There were 18 baseline interviews, and 12 in-depth interviews conducted. Participant characteristics and demographic information was not collected for baseline interviews. The median age of the in-depth interview participants was 63.70 years old. In this sample, 12 of the 12 in-depth interviewees were women. Two of the participants had refused screening and enrolling in clinical trials saying they were 'not interested.' Two participants had screened but not enrolled in a study after the educational intervention. Two participants had both screened and enrolled. Six participants had not indicated or been contacted asking if they were interested in a study. Participants were from all 6 of the study churches, both intervention and control groups.

Overview of Qualitative Findings

As described, coding and analysis was conducted in 4 parts, resulting in 504 codes. A codebook was developed in a MaxQDA database. Saturation was achieved with the 30 interviews. The final average intercoder reliability rating was a combined average Kappa score of .98.

Baseline Interviews

Baseline interviews had 3 main themes that emerged, Attitudes, Education, and Trust. These themes provided deductive codes for the in-depth interviews. The questions aimed to get a very quick baseline sense of what motivated participation in the educational intervention, to get a sense of what the African American community meant to them, as well as to see what they learned after the first or second sessions. Attitudes were describing how participants felt about clinical research in general, and asking how they thought the Black community felt about clinical trials.

Education theme emerged in response to talking about fears and mistrust and how to overcome some of these fears and mistrust in the Black community as well as when talking about what they learned from the intervention. Trust emerged as a theme when discussing fears and mistrust. Participants generally felt that clinical trials were good, but that they needed more education and information in order to trust studies. Trust also had mixed responses from participants, a few citing Tuskegee as a source of fear and mistrust, others stating that they didn't know of any fears or mistrust in their community regarding clinical trials or research. One participant replied,

"There was a time when Black community didn't trust clinical research because we were forced upon to be used as research guinea pigs. And for now this time has passed and now the community is backing the community research because we find that it will help the community out."

Tal	ble	1.	Base	line	Them	nes	(n=)	18))
-----	-----	----	------	------	------	-----	------	-----	---

Theme	Quote
Attitudes toward	"I think they're [clinical trials are] great because they help
Clinical Trials	people to find out what cures are out there and also to find
	out the diseases that families have generations ago "
	"My thoughts right now [about clinical trials] are a little um
	concerning based on history. Um, based on how um
	African Americans have been treated previously as it relates
	to clinical studies. So I'm a little concerned and a littleum a
	littleI'll just say a little concerned."
	"Oh I think it's [clinical trials are] super."
	"In my opinion, enough has not been done to educate the
	black community on clinical research. I think that those
	who have been educated about it are more likely to
	participate and those who have just heard the horror stories

	will not gravitate at all."
	_
	"Oh I think it's [clinical trials are] very good. We need that.
Need for Education	"And when I say gaining trust it's by giving people the true
	message about what research is all about. Giving them the
	inner works of that research letting them know what the
	research is all about other than just giving them the topical
	review of that research. Give them the inner message, give
	them what they need to know and the true meat of what
	research is all about. As I said, once by gaining the trust and
	if you give them the truth then everything will be all right."
	"Knowledge is very important. To know what's going on
	with your body, and that's one of the main things that you
	all brought out to us is things that we probably don't even
	think about or realize. Is just doing these studieswhat
	things can be brought out for our understanding for us to
	realize it's very important to take care of your body. so ya'll
	brought out some things that we need. By doing certain
	things you can prevent other things, so that's one of the
	main things that y'all brought out to us and even that we
	need to do some of these studies."
Trust	What fears, mistrust, and stigma related to clinical research
	exist in the black community?
	"Tuskegee. Tuskegee."
	"Do I know about any. No."
	"Um, there was a time when Black community didn't trust
	clinical research because we were forced upon to be used as
	research guinea pigs. And uh, for now during this time has
	passed and now community is uh backing the community
	research because we find that it will help the community
	out"
L	

In Depth Interview Main Themes

Five major themes emerged from the in depth interviews. These main themes were: Lack of Awareness, Motivation for Clinical Trial Participation, Psychosocial Barriers, Logistical Challenges, and Education Intervention (see Table 2). These five main themes show the relationship between attitudes and the barriers older African American churchgoers may experience when it comes to participating in clinical trials and scientific research studies. Awareness serves as the main driver of for motivation to participate in clinical trials and also influences their perception of barriers. Barriers and Motivation both influence willingness to participate in clinical trials. There is an important flux between barriers and motivation because an increase in the perception of barriers can influence motivation to participate in clinical trials, and if the motivations to participate are higher than the barriers, they are more likely to be willing to participate in clinical trials.

Theme	Quote
Awareness (lack of)	"I: so, before they came to your church, were you aware of clinical trials at all? P: no. no,
	I: no, never hear anything about them? P: no."
\Need for Knowledge	"I: Why did you decide to join (educational) program? P:cause it's something that you need, and you might need to learn something from, you know what I'm saying?, you might not know some things that, that people know more of, so, it was a learning thing for me. Um, teaching me something that maybe I might want to call someone that has these issues"
Motivation to	"Well, I don't know that I have beenparticularly
Participate in a Clinical Trial	interested. Like the first one kinda so to speak fell in my lap, and I didn't mind doing it at all. And I also thought well that wasn't so bad, and so I did the second one, and I hadn't thought about it anymore except when the flu came on my internet. The flu one, I considered that one, that's about all. For those, those, and I don't know if I'll do another one or not. I guess it, probably depends on how much time and everything it entails, and also, um, I already have a lung problem so trying to be very careful about what kind of shots I take something like that, yeah.
\Trust	"That's all I'm saying. I don't think that there's a distrust, I think there's a lack of information."
\\Peer Influence	"Well, I have to admit, I, I have a little bit more [trust] in people that I already know or that I'm associated with, or have built up a quote track record with, um, with others

Table 2. In-Depth Interview Themes (n=13)

	I'm probably a little less sure, and that's where the bedside manner comes in. to make me feel comfortable about what they're doing."
\\Medical Center	"Oh I defiantly feel that (a medical center) is trustworthy. Oh yeah, I don't have a problem with that. They've got a really good name. The students that come out of there are, are highly trained, as far as I can tell it has a track record of being very influential But their track record is good and they seem to know what they're doing."
\Relevant Health Topics	"My health is would be more what I would be interested in. you know. Um, ohI don't know. That's about it. I guess, you know. I have, well I do have, high blood pressure, and um, I take cholesterol medicine. So anything in my area, you know, I would be interested in."
\Therapeutic Misconception	"I wouldn't want to be in the group with a placeboI don't know for some reason in my mind, I don't see getting the placebo as helping me."
\Curiosity	"I: So why did you end up joining (educational intervention) program? P: uh, originally I did it just because I was curious."
Psychosocial Barriers	"I: okay, so what made you decide to um, participate in the studies? P: um, cause I think the questions that they were asking in and it was nothing invasive, and um, pretty easy for me to do."
\Knowledge of Historical Abuses	"Asblacks or African Americans, we have a real fear when it comes to studies. uh, most of the community I feel like, um, we, we feel like we're gonna be treated as guinea pigs. so, we back as far away as possible from that. okay, so that fear has just always been there. um, even I can go back as far as when I was 8, I guess 10 or 12 maybe, when my grandmother used to go to a doctor that had colored and white waiting rooms. so that fear goes way back, even to then when they thought that the blacks were being treated one way and the whites were being treated one way. so that they always felt, I know my grandmosther did, always felt that you know, she really wasn't getting the best of care, but it was the best that she could get at the time. "
\Study Demands	"It's the strangest thing. I just, I have always been, umshy of uh needles and I'm a medical technologist and I used to draw blood at the first part of the day years ago, for just working in a lab. I'm just, just would rather not with needles."
\\Untested Product	"I might be slightly hesitant on on some medications that um, have not truly been tried out for side effects, so I would not, I'd be a little leery at that. um, but maybe in

	the final stages of some some drugs um, that are proven
	to um, to work, I would probably be yeah, interested in
	doing those."
Logistical Challenges	"Might be because of time, and now that I'm working
	and stuff, cause I think to come for some of those
	programs on site, and it might be um, might have been
	too far out of the way. Or time interference."
\Transportation	"I don't want to drive for so far"
Challenges	
\Study	"She said that they were drawing blood, like three times,
Procedures	and I have sunken veins, and I told her no."
\\Study Design	"I: yeah, like given a lot of information, is there anything
	else that might make you hesitate.
	P: naw, the only thing's knowing what , what they're
	given me."
\\Cormorbidities	"She said that they were drawing blood, like three times,
as Exclusion	and I have sunken veins, and I told her no So she said
	she understood, and I told her I would be interested in
	something else, you knowand uh, she thanked me"
Education Intervention	
\Community-	"I: What about the program impressed you?
developed	P: Well, they included me."
program	
\Church-	"I thought it was a great because if it hadn't of come to
Research	my church I probably wouldn't have done it."
Partnership	"Well, really I guess the first thing that um, most favorite
	thing was definitely getting the congregation involved."
\\Convenience	"It was really, really really nice, and then it's convenient
	cause it was at the church and I knew where I was going."
\Trustworthy	"P: in everyone that came out, everyone was so honest
Source of	and open and they even from their own personal
Information	experience would tell you how it was and so, the info, the
	literature they gave was very revealing of everything that
	would be involved in a study. And the paperwork that
	we signed, the study that they did here which didn't
	involve anything medical, everything that they signed it
	was it was always honest and upfront and you know, so. I know it's better then it used to be."
\\Persuasive	
Approach	"I: okay. and why did you decide to join the dose of hope program?
rpproach	P: because my pastor, uh, announced one Sunday that
	um, (a medical center) wanted to do a study with the
	seniors. so he asked us uh, the seniors, would we
	participate. so that's how I found out about it, and I did.
	and It was three different three different events, or what
	did you call it, it's scheduled us three different times"
l	and you can it, it's serieutieu us unice unicient unics
\\Knowledgeable	"They [the presenters] seemed knowledgeable; they had
------------------	---
Speakers	facts to back up everything that they were speaking on.
Speakers	They were really engaging, they just appeared
	knowledgeable. They weren't just telling you tell you
	something. They whatever they were talking speaking on,
	they had data, they had facts, they had information right
	in front of you regarding it."
\Relevant	"They gave information say for instance for women,
Content	African American groups. When they would talk about
	the diabetes, they would center it around the African
	Americans, what would be important for me to know.
	So, the information that they gave was tailored just for
	me and my ethnicity. So that's what made it good."
\Reliable Source	"Then when they get around and they give you the books
for Continuous	and the papers and such to back up their claim, you
Information	know. You're going through that and you're reading the
	books and going through it. You know, it gives you a
	better insight you being able to understand what it's
	about."
\Supportive	"I thought all the speakers were very good. Very
Environment	informative. They knew their topic, they were friendly,
	they made people feel at ease, you know, and that
	helped."
	"It [the intervention] kinda met people where they were.
	So I felt that was good."
\Gift Card	"I did like the idea of getting a gift card."
Incentive	

Lack of Awareness

The theme of Lack of Awareness (lack of) was driven by the facet of knowledge, or the need to gain knowledge about clinical trials. Having a thorough knowledge of clinical was an important facet of the participants being aware of clinical trials and the need for participating in clinical trials. When asked why they decided to join the educational program, participants answered,

"Cause it's something that you need, and you might need to learn something from, you know what I'm saying?, you might not know some things that, that people know more of, so, it was a learning thing for me. Um, teaching me something that maybe I might want to call someone that has these issues...."

Participants said that they needed to know more about what was going on in a particular study. A lack of knowledge on what the study entailed was part of the lack of awareness.

"I just think it's just, it's just for me, a good idea to have some knowledge of what's going on and what better knowledge than to know what's going on with you personally."

Participants' lack of awareness about clinical trials was an important theme that was often talked about as an important preceding factor in the motivation to participate in clinical trials. When asked about if they would consider participating in clinical trials, the most common response centered on not being aware of what trials were out there. A lack of awareness on what trials were available was one facet for this theme. In order to be willing to participate in a trial, one would first need to know the opportunity existed.

" I haven't ever been places where things like [clinical trials] are really talked about. So I can't give you a reasonable answer. I guess if I knew exactly what was going on, you know, I would want to be a part of it. But I can't tell you because I don't really know."

When asked if they had heard of clinical trials before the educational intervention came to their church, many of the participants said they had never heard of clinical trials before.

"I: so, before they came to your church, were you aware of clinical trials at all?

P: no. no,

I: no, never hear anything about them?

P: no."

Motivation to participate in Clinical Trials

The major theme of motivation to participate in clinical trials is influenced by awareness, as well as the psychosocial barriers and logistical challenges to participate in trials. The motivation theme has two main subthemes including Trust and Relevant Health Topics. The trust theme is comprised of Peer Influence and Medical Center Influence. Relevant Health Topics has further subthemes of Therapeutic Misconception and Curiosity. The two main aspects of trust were the influence of peers, and the medical center influence. Motivation to participate is an intermediate concept between being aware of a clinical trial, and being willing to participate in clinical trials. Participants described trust as an important aspect in their motivation to participate in trials. Their perception of trusting the medical center and trusting the influence of their friends and family leads to a greater trust of the study. For example, participants who really trusted a medical center were more likely to trust a study being conducted with that same medical center.

"Oh I defiantly feel that (a medical center) is trustworthy. Oh yeah, I don't have a problem with that. They've got a really good name. The students that come out of there are, are highly trained, as far as I can tell it has a track record of being very influential But their track record is good and they seem to know what they're doing."

Another example was that when family and friends spoke of their experience in trials, the participant was more likely to feel trusting toward the clinical trial experience.

"Well, I have to admit, I have a little bit more [trust] in people that I already know or that I'm associated with, or have built up a quote track record with, um, with others I'm probably a little less sure, and that's where the bedside manner comes in. To make me feel comfortable about what they're doing."

The other main factor in participants' motivation to participate in clinical trials was relevant health topics. Every participant commented that they would be interested in participating in a study if it were pertinent to their health, or on a topic that was of interest to them.

"My health is would be more what I would be interested in. you know. Um, oh...I don't know. That's about it. I guess, you know. I have, well I do have, high blood pressure, and um, I take cholesterol medicine. So anything in my area, you know, I would be interested in."

When asked if they would be interested in participating in a clinical trial, participants mentioned they would be interested if the content was interesting. Some of the topics that were of interested were Alzheimer disease, the ageing process, cardiovascular and heart disease, hypertension and diabetes, and mental health. Relevant topics were important because motivation to participate in clinical trials is driven in part by interest in the topic. Another aspect of motivation to participate in clinical trials was the misconception that clinical trials are for treating, and getting medical treatment for a disease/illness/ health concern. The code for therapeutic misconception emerged as an important motivator.

"I wouldn't want to be in the group with a placebo...I don't know for some reason in my mind, I don't see getting the placebo as helping me." "Yes I had [heard of clinical trials]. actually, there was one that was done on diabetes some years ago that (a medical center) did and I had talked to some of the people in the church into going and getting their blood work and all that stuff done... this is the first one that um, I've actually, the one that, that that I sent people to were people who I knew were borderline diabetic and so, I wanted to make sure, you know, kinda get them in the door."

Psychosocial Barriers

The major theme of psychosocial barriers has two main facets including Knowledge of Historical Abuses and Study Demands. Psychosocial Barriers are the barriers that prevent participants from feeling motivated or willing to participate in a clinical trial. The study demands theme has a further subtheme of Untested Product.

"Probably ones that there're not gonna be drawing blood. [laughing] um, ones where um, if it's a medication um, I might be slightly hesitant on on some medications that um, have not truly been tried out for side effects, so I would not, I'd be a little leery at that. um, but maybe in the final stages of some some drugs um, that are proven to um, to work, I would probably be yeah, interested in doing those."

Knowledge of Historical Abuses encompasses the fears and mistrust that African American's may experience when dealing with the medical and research community.

" If you know about the past clinical trials where um, uh, African American's were taken advantage of, and then that makes them non trusting, um, clinical trials, and even and even to go get healthcare. Then to have um, a program to come here and speak especially to African Americans makes me feel like, you know, that that wee matter. um, and you know, as a group, and um it just helps me uh as far as my family goes, like I said, I'm always lookin for better ways to do it, so that lets me know that there is a system that that's still you know, that cares about what knowledge we receive so that we can can do better. Knowledge is power, so um, ...yeah."

Another psychosocial barrier African Americans experience are study demands. Study demands are

"It's the strangest thing. I just, I have always been, um...shy of uh needles and I'm a medical technologist and I used to draw blood at the first part of the day years ago, for just working in a lab. I'm just, just would rather not with needles."

Logistical Challenges

The theme of Logistical Challenges has two subthemes including Transportation challenges and study procedures. Transportation Challenges are barriers related to how easy it is to get to a clinical trial including issues with transportation as well as distance being a problem. When asked why they did not enroll in a clinical trial, one participant answered,

"Might be because of time, and now that I'm working and stuff, cause I think to come for some of those programs on site, and it might be um, might have been too far out of the way. Or time interference." The Study Procedures subtheme includes two subthemes of study design and comorbidities as exclusions. Study procedures are physical barriers to participating in a study such as time, or how often they are required to meet per week.

"Yeah, and one of his reasons too is that probably a lot of other people, why he may not do a trail, study they'll say, well I'm already taking a lot of medicine, why do I need to go to a trial study"

Study design is how often or how many times a week they study design calls for participation including the length of time in months or years follow-up.

"I: yeah, like given a lot of information, is there anything else that might make you hesitate.

P: naw, the only thing's knowing what , what they're given me."

Cormorbidies as exclusion are physical factors and cormorbidies that exclude participants from participating in a clinical trial. For example one participant said,

"I don't want to drive for so far, and then, after I called her back, she said that they were drawing blood, like three times, and I have sunken veins, and I told her.. So she said she understood, and uh, I told her I would be interested in something else, you know...and uh, she thanked me, yeah yeah."

Education Intervention

There was a theme of Education Intervention that emerged and included four subthemes. Those subthemes were community developed program, church-Research Partnership, Trustworthy Source of Information, and Supportive Environment. The subtheme of Community Developed Program has one subthemes of convenience. Participants generally were impressed with the education intervention, the program. They were impressed that doctors came to them, came to their community and met them where they were and simply included them in the research process.

"I: What about the program impressed you?

P: Well, they included me."

By coming into the community, participants felt that the information was important and needed in their community. The idea of the church-research partnership as part of a community developed program was successful in reaching the community.

"I: and why do you feel that the community collaboration is key?

P: um, because we reach more people. and even in our little individual pockets, we're more familiar with what, what is needed in that community."

The Church-Research Partnership had subthemes of Persuasive approach. Many of the participants would not have known, or would have been less inclined to participate in the program if it had not been brought to them through their church.

"I: how did you feel about it coming to your church? P: I thought it was a great because if it hadn't of come to my church I probably wouldn't have done it."

"I: can you tell me more about what your experiences was like doing it through your church?

P: ... But yeah, they were really, really really nice, and um, and then it's convenient cause it was at the church you know, and uh, I knew where I was going. [chuckling] and I think some other people...I forget whether it was all from our church or not at the time, cause some other people might have to come from another place to our church you know, but, it was really convenient and everybody was really nice, no pressure and that's what I liked, you know. Um, so um, like I said, I was pleased with it. And uh, I'd do it again if if it needed that."

Three facets of the Trustworthy Source of Information theme include Knowledgeable Speakers, Relevant Content, and Reliable Source for Continuous Information. One of the main reasons the education intervention was seen as successful was how organized, open, honest, and trustworthy the speakers were.

"Everyone was so honest and open and they [the speakers] even from their own personal experience would tell you how it was and so, the info, the literature they gave was very revealing of everything that would be involved in a study. And the in the paperwork that we signed the study that they did here which didn't involve anything medical, everything that they signed it was it was always honest and upfront and you know. I know it's better then it used to be."

"I really liked how organized it was—how everything was presented. They [the speakers] seemed knowledgeable. They had facts to back up everything that they were speaking on. They were really engaging—they just appeared knowledgeable. They weren't just telling you tell you something. They whatever they were talking speaking on, they had data, they had facts, they had information right in front of you regarding it." The speakers were not only knowledgeable, but they spoke on topics of interested to the community, and gave handouts as a reliable source of information.

"...Then when they get around and they give you books and the papers and such to back up their claim. You're going through that and you're reading the books and going through it. You know, it gives you a better insight, you being able to understand what it's about."

The last main theme of Supportive Environment had no subthemes. The program was designed to be in a supportive environment, and the participants enjoyed the atmosphere the programs had. The participant were generally engaged with the topics, and all wanted to know more information, and being put at ease and feeling comfortable makes it easier to ask questions.

"I thought all the speakers were very good, very informative. They knew their topic, they were friendly, they made people feel at ease, and that helped. They got to be around professional people, doctors, this is what they do, and yet they felt comfortable enough to walk up to them and talk and ask questions. So I think the atmosphere, having it at the church made it more relaxed. I really think so. It kind of met people where they were, so I felt that was good."

The themes that emerged from the follow-up interviews came together to show that there are relationships between all 6 of the main themes. The education intervention is a key factor that influences willingness to participate. From the baseline interviews we can see a change in understanding their community has a need for education, and then after the intervention, there was a need for increased awareness around the issue of clinical trials.

From the baseline interviews we also see how important trust is when implementing a community based education intervention.

DISCUSSION

Findings

Understanding the decision making process, and how motivations and barriers influence willingness to participate is an import step to increasing minority enrollment in clinical trials. The results show how the main theme of awareness precedes barriers and motivations for clinical trial participation. Motivations and barriers can influence each other like tipping a scale from being willing to participate to being unwilling to participate. An education intervention influences participants' willingness to participate in research by increasing awareness as well as increasing motivations and decreasing barriers. We found that even with few barriers and willingness to participate, without being aware of clinical trials that are being conducted, participants did not participate in trials. This shows another facet of education interventions that are necessary to increase clinical trial participation increasing awareness of specific clinical trials available in the community. The education intervention was key in increasing knowledge about clinical trials and the benefits of research for the African American community, as well as addressing the lack of awareness surrounding clinical trials by increasing education and sending out information about the current available clinical trials.

We saw a change in expressing a need for more education in the baseline interviews to a need for more awareness in the follow-up interviews. This change suggests that the intervention brought an increase in knowledge, and some increase in the general awareness of what clinical trials are and what they can do for the African American community. This change shows that the education intervention was an effective tool for increasing education of participants. It also shows that simply participating in a study was an effective way to increase general awareness on clinical trials. All of the participants interviewed expressed a

42

desire to know more about trials and that they would pay more attention to clinical trials in the future. A majority of the participants overcame some of the barriers and increased expressed their willingness to participate in clinical trials, as long as they were given information honestly and upfront, and the trials were relevant to their interest and noninvasive.

The descriptive research yielded themes that described a similar attitudinal pathway as the PAPM suggests. The PAPM has 7 stages shown in Figure 2: 1) being aware, 2) aware, but not personally engaged, 3) engaged and deciding about acting, 4) deciding not to act, 5) deciding to act, but not yet acting, 6) acting, 7) maintaining the new health behavior .⁶⁹ We examined conceptual structures that may align with the PAPM. We mapped the 5 main themes from the in-depth interviews to the PAPM stages.

Figure 1. Precaution Adoption Model



Awareness is stage 1 of the PAPM and the main driver in African Americans' decision making process relating to willingness to participate in clinical trials. In order to begin the decision making process, participants need to be aware of the issue. For study participants, in order to be willing to participate in clinical trials, they first need to be aware

of what clinical trials are available. Motivation to participate in clinical trials encompasses Stage 2 of being engaged with the issue. The factors that impact participants motivation to participate and where participants may decide about participating in trials if the motivations outweigh the barriers. Psychosocial and logistical barriers are Stage 4 of the PAPM. Barriers can often lead to deciding not to act, in the case of these participants, many of the barriers lead to deciding not to participate in clinical trials. If these barriers are overcome, they move on to Stage 3, willingness to participate in clinical trials. Education Intervention intervenes at stage 1 by increasing clinical trial awareness. The intervention also intervenes at stage 2 by bring the study to the community and engaging them in the research process educating them about the needs and benefits of clinical trial and study participation.

According to the PAPM, decisions progress starting at stage 1, and follow though all the stages. Understanding this model, an individual cannot be willing to participate in clinical trial research unless he is first aware of the opportunity to participate in clinical trials. The same process is true for implementing interventions. If there is a lack of awareness about clinical trials, interventions aimed at decreasing barriers and increasing motivators may be effected in those stages of the process, but ultimately ineffective because the intervention doesn't address the first stage of being awareness of clinical trials.

Comorbidities was an important barrier that emerged during analysis. Adams-Campbell et al. found that there is a disproportionate burden of comorbidities among the African American population.³ Participants were aware that comorbidities might influence their ability to participate in clinical research and often did not even look into a trial if they thought it might influence or interact with one or more of their comorbidities. Understanding how comorbidities affect eligibility for clinical trial participation is important when recruiting among African American who experience a greater number of comorbidities.

Different from Castillo-Mancilla and colleagues study which found that white participants were more worried about getting a placebo, we found that African Americans are also concerned about getting a placebo as a barrier to clinical trial participation.¹ This concerned exposed an underlying therapeutic misconception as either a motivator or a barrier to clinical trial participation. Brown et al. reported similar participant concerns surrounding the process of randomization and placebo/treatment groups.⁸⁴ Participants in the Brown et al. study looking at therapeutic cancer trial refuses showed that participants preferred to get the treatment compared to the placebo.⁸⁴ This study also showed that most participants wanted a guarantee that they would not get the placebo and would get the experimental treatment. This important finding suggests that greater care is needed when recruiting participants to minimize participation from participants who are seeking a source of free healthcare. It is also important for more time to be spent on increasing education about clinical trial designs and the treatment options in clinical research. These findings show that it is not clear how therapeutic misconception is influencing clinical trial enrollment among African Americans. Burke discusses how it is not clear how the ethical principal of therapeutic misconception has shaped enrollment of minorities including African Americans' in clinical trials.⁸³ This finding warrants further research into understanding how and why therapeutic misconception may work as a barrier or facilitator to clinical trial participation.

Health related factors were more important than psychosocial perceptions in influencing decision to participate in research. Gadegbeku et al found similar results in their study on factors associated with African American clinical trial enrollment. This study showed that African American have positive views on medical research integrity and also see the benefits to society that medical research offers.⁶⁰ Situating trust within interventions and recruitment efforts

There is a growing body of literature supporting strategies that target communication of the health benefits of the research for participants. Langford et al. discussed how tailored campaigns to increase awareness of clinical trials would be successful among minorities, when also accounting for cultural and structural factors other than socioeconomic factors.⁵⁶ The authors mentioned social media and faith organizations as a few ways to increase clinical trial awareness among African Americans.

Conclusions

This study successful explores the relationships between awareness of clinical trials and willingness to participate in clinical trials. The depth of data gathered provides a useful conceptual framework which can be utilized when developing innovative programs and strategies to increase African American enrollment in clinical trials. Situating barriers and motivators as mediators between awareness and willingness to participate in research shows an important area to target.

One barrier not discussed was the potential bias of large research hospitals and research dollars being focused in high income areas, and not in more economically stratified areas. Understanding how lack of access to healthcare intersects with willingness to participate may be an important barrier to clinical trial participation.

Strengths

True to the purpose of exploratory qualitative research, this study showed the attitudinal decision process African Americans' experience when approached with the idea of participating in a clinical trial. This study also filled gaps in the previous body of literature surrounding a more in-depth understanding of awareness. This study has many strengths including using rigorous qualitative methodology to ensure reliability of the coding structure as well as providing the perspective of a hard to reach population. In addition, this study also provided a theoretical advancement utilizing the PAPM with African American willingness to participate in clinical trials.

Limitations

As a qualitative, inductive study, the research is limited to recounting the experiences of individuals in a specific context and therefore not generalizable. Recruiting from those who were already part of a study means that the participants may have already been more likely to participate in research further limiting my results.

Racial differences between the participants and the interviewer may also have lead to less detailed and specific data as compared to interviews conducted by someone of the same race as the participants, although this was not apparent during the interview process. Another potential limitation was the overrepresentation of women in the sample. Two participants, a husband and wife, interviewed together which may have influenced how each individual responded to questions.

Implications and Recommendations

The process of increasing awareness and improving the education of African Americans may help foster a more positive willingness to participate in clinical trials research, which may help o boost enrollment in clinical trials. It is important to further distinguish between awareness and education and separate but related factors that precede barriers and motivators to clinical trial participation. Many participants reported the extent to which an education intervention can be used to address this problem of increasing knowledge among their community and the success of using a community based intervention in a trusted faith setting. However, they also continually reported a lack of awareness as a precedent to the need for knowledge.

Future research is needed to understand the differences between an increase in knowledge, and an increase in awareness and understand how awareness and education affect behavior change—increasing enrollment in clinical trials. There needs to be a better understanding of how awareness and education break down barriers, and increase motivation to participate in order to focus strategies and interventions to increase enrollment. It is also important to focus intervention efforts away from tendencies of therapeutic misconception. Therapeutic misconception emerged as an important factor. Minimizing therapeutic as a motivation to enroll in trials is important for future interventions. Enrolling participants for the wrong reason is not ethical and a misrepresentation of motivation for participating. Therapeutic misconception as a motivation to participate, or a barrier for participating may be overcome with better education and awareness surrounding clinical trials.

REFERENCES

1. Castillo-Mancilla JR, Cohn SE, Krishnan S, Cespedes M, Floris-Moore M, Schulte G, et al. Minorities remain underrepresented in HIV/AIDS research despite access to clinical trials. HIV clinical trials. 2014; 15:14-26.

2. Ford JG, Howerton MW, Lai GY, Gary TL, Bolen S, Gibbons MC, et al. Barriers to recruiting underrepresented populations to cancer clinical trials: a systematic review. Cancer. 2008; 112:228-42.

3. Adams-Campbell LL, Ahaghotu C, Gaskins M, Dawkins FW, Smoot D, Polk OD, et al. Enrollment of African Americans onto clinical treatment trials: study design barriers. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2004; 22:730-4.

4. Banks B. Process evaluation of a multilevel intervention to increase rural, African American participation in HIV/AIDS clinical trials. Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences. 2013; 73:No Pagination Specified.

 Branson RD, Davis K, Jr., Butler KL. African Americans' participation in clinical research: importance, barriers, and solutions. American journal of surgery. 2007; 193:32-9; discussion 40.
Chandra A, Paul DP, 3rd. African American participation in clinical trials: recruitment

difficulties and potential remedies. Hospital topics. 2003; 81:33-8.

7. Coakley M, Fadiran EO, Parrish L, Griffith RA, Weiss E, Carter C. Dialogues on diversifying clinical trials: Successful strategies for engaging women and minorities in clinical trials. Journal of Women's Health. 2012; 21:713-6.

8. Fisher JA, Kalbaugh CA. Challenging assumptions about minority participation in US clinical research. American journal of public health. 2011; 101:2217-22.

9. Ford ME, Siminoff LA, Pickelsimer E, Mainous AG, Smith DW, Diaz VA, et al. Unequal burden of disease, unequal participation in clinical trials: solutions from African American and Latino community members. Health & social work. 2013; 38:29-38.

10. Harris Y, Gorelick PB, Samuels P, Bempong I. Why African Americans may not be participating in clinical trials. Journal of the National Medical Association. 1996; 88:630-4.

11. Lai GY, Gary TL, Tilburt J, Bolen S, Baffi C, Wilson RF, et al. Effectiveness of strategies to recruit underrepresented populations into cancer clinical trials. Clinical trials (London, England). 2006; 3:133-41.

12. Shavers-Hornaday VL, Lynch CF, Burmeister LF, Torner JC. Why are African Americans under-represented in medical research studies? Impediments to participation. Ethnicity & Health. 1997; Vo 2:31-45.

13. Thompson EE, Neighbors HW, Munday C, Jackson JS. Recruitment and retention of African American patients for clinical research: An exploration of response rates in an urban psychiatric hospital. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology. 1996; 64:861-7.

14. Warren KJ. A community response to the underrepresentation of African Americans in cancer clinical research. Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering. 2010; 71:3633.

15. Health UDo, Services H. NIH Policy and Guidelines on The Inclusion of Women and Minorities as Subjects in Clinical Research—Amended, October, 2001.

16. Bureau USC. 2009-2013 5-Year American Community Survey. 2010.

17. Services USDoHaH. Phase I report: Recommendations for the framework and format of Healthy People 2020, recommendations USDoHaHSACfa.

18. Meyer PA, Yoon, Paula W., Kaufmann, Rachel B. . CDC Health Disparities and Inequalities Report — United States, 2013. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Office for State T, Local, and Territorial Support and the Center for Surveillance, Epidemiology, and Laboratory Services;2013 November 22, 2013.

19. Heron M. Deaths: Leading Causes for 2010. Hyattsville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services National Center for Health Statistics, Statistics DoV;2013 December 20, 2013.

20. Prevention CfDCa. The State of Aging and Health in America 2013. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Servises UDoHaH;2013.

21. Braveman PA, Kumanyika, S., Fielding, J. et al. Health Disparities and health equity: the issue is justice. American journal of public health. 2011:149-55.

22. Shaya F, Gbarayor, C.M., Yang, H.K., Agyeman-Duah, M., Saunders, E. A perspective on African American participation in clinical trials. ScienceDirect. 2006:213-7.

23. Brown DR, Topcu M. Willingness to participate in clinical treatment research among older African Americans and Whites. The Gerontologist. 2003; 43:62-72.

24. Taylor Jr HA, Wilson JG, Jones DW, Sarpong DF, Srinivasan A, Garrison RJ, et al. Toward resolution of cardiovascular health disparities in African Americans: design and methods of the Jackson Heart Study. Ethnicity & disease. 2005; 15:S6-4.

25. Services USDoHaH. HHS Action Plan to Reduce Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities2013.

26. Byrd GS, Edwards CL, Kelkar VA, Phillips RG, Byrd JR, Pim-Pong DS, et al. Recruiting intergenerational African American males for biomedical research studies: A major research challenge. Journal of the National Medical Association. 2011; 103:55-6.

 Paskett ED, Reeves KW, McLaughlin JM, Katz ML, McAlearney AS, Ruffin MT, et al. Recruitment of minority and underserved populations in the United States: the Centers for Population Health and Health Disparities experience. Contemporary clinical trials. 2008; 29:847-61.
Wallerstein NB, Duran B. Using community-based participatory research to address health disparities. Health promotion practice. 2006; 7:312-23.

29. Glanz K, Bishop DB. The role of behavioral science theory in development and implementation of public health interventions. Annual Review of Public Health. 2010; 31:399-418.

30. Colon-Otero G, Albertie M, Lesperance M, Weis JA, Coles A, Smith N, et al. A pilot program in collaboration with African American churches successfully increases awareness of the importance of cancer research and participation in cancer translational research studies among African Americans. Journal of cancer education : the official journal of the American Association for Cancer Education. 2012; 27:294-8.

31. Corbie-Smith G, Isler MR, Miles MS, Banks B. Community-based HIV clinical trials: An integrated approach in underserved, rural, minority communities. Progress in community health partnerships: research, education, and action. 2012; 6:121.

32. Woods G, Levinson AH, Jones G, Kennedy RL, Johnson LC, Tran ZV, et al. The Living Well by Faith Health and wellness program for African Americans: an exemplar of community-based participatory research. Ethnicity & disease. 2013; 23:223-9.

33. Fouad MN, Johnson RE, Nagy MC, Person SD, Partridge EE. Adherence and retention in clinical trials: a community-based approach. Cancer. 2014; 120 Suppl 7:1106-12.

34. Zoellner JM, Connell CC, Madson MB, Wang B, Reed VB, Molaison EF, et al. H.U.B city steps: methods and early findings from a community-based participatory research trial to reduce blood pressure among African Americans. The international journal of behavioral nutrition and physical activity. 2011; 8:59.

35. DeHaven MJ, Ramos-Roman MA, Gimpel N, Carson J, DeLemos J, Pickens S, et al. The GoodNEWS (Genes, Nutrition, Exercise, Wellness, and Spiritual Growth) Trial: a community-based participatory research (CBPR) trial with African-American church congregations for reducing cardiovascular disease risk factors--recruitment, measurement, and randomization. Contemporary clinical trials. 2011; 32:630-40.

36. Center TPR. The Pew Forum on Religion and Public Life: US Religious Landscape Survey2010.

37. Wilcox S, Parrott A, Baruth M, Laken M, Condrasky M, Saunders R, et al. The Faith, Activity, and Nutrition program: a randomized controlled trial in African-American churches. American journal of preventive medicine. 2013; 44:122-31.

38. Wingood GM, Robinson LR, Braxton ND, Er DL, Conner AC, Renfro TL, et al. Comparative effectiveness of a faith-based HIV intervention for African American women: importance of enhancing religious social capital. American journal of public health. 2013; 103:2226-33.

39. Austin S, Harris, G. . Addressing health disparities: the role of an african american health ministry committee. Social Work in Public Health. 2011:123-35.

40. Corbie-Smith G GM, Isler MR, et al. Partnerships in health disparities research and the roles of pastors of black churches: Potential conflict, synergy, and expectations. Journal of National Medical Association. 2010; 102:823-31.

41. Kaplan S CN, Golub M, Ruddock C, Billings J. The role of faith-based institutions in addressing health disparities: A case study of an initiative in the southwest Bronx. Journal of Health Care Poor Underserved. 2006; 17:9-19.

42. Yanek L BD, Moy T, Gittelsohn J, Koffman D. Project Joy: Faith-based cardiovascular health promotion for African American women. Public Health Rep 2001; 116:68-81.

43. Fry CA. Exploring pneumococcal vaccine uptake barriers among African American adults in Northeast Florida. US: ProQuest Information & Learning; 2014.

44. Linden HM, Reisch LM, Hart A, Jr., Harrington MA, Nakano C, Jackson J, et al. Attitudes toward participation in breast cancer randomized clinical trials in the African American community: A focus group study. Cancer Nursing. 2007; 30:261-9.

45. Krause N, Christopher G. Ellison, Benjamin A. Shaw, John P. Marcum and Jason D. Church-Based Social Support and Religious Coping. Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion 2001; 40:637-56.

46. Meisenhelder JBaENC. Spirituality and Health Outcomes in the Elderly. Journal of Religion and Health. 2002; 41:243-52.

47. Odulana A, Kim MM, Green M, Taylor Y, Howard DL, Godley P, et al. Participating in research: attitudes within the African American Church. Journal of religion and health. 2014; 53:373-81.

48. Freimuth VS, Quinn SC, Thomas SB, Cole G, Zook E, Duncan T. African Americans' views on research and the Tuskegee Syphilis Study. Social science & medicine (1982). 2001; 52:797-808.

49. Crawley LM. African-American Participation in Clinical Trials Situating Trust and Trustworthiness. Journal of the National Medical Association. 2001; 93:14S-7S.

50. Corbie-Smith G, Thomas SB, Williams MV, Moody-Ayers S. Attitudes and beliefs of African Americans toward participation in medical research. Journal of general internal medicine. 1999; 14:537-46.

51. Schmotzer GL. Barriers and facilitators to participation of minorities in clinical trials. Ethnicity & disease. 2012; 22:226-30.

52. Durant RW, Legedza AT, Marcantonio ER, Freeman MB, Landon BE. Different types of distrust in clinical research among Whites and African Americans. Journal of the National Medical Association. 2011; 103:123-30.

53. Corbie-Smith G, Thomas SB, St George DM. Distrust, race, and research. Archives of internal medicine. 2002; 162:2458-63.

54. Corbie-Smith G, Thomas SB, Williams MV, Moody-Ayers S. Attitudes and beliefs of African Americans toward participation in medical research. Journal of general internal medicine. 1999; 14:537-46.

55. Shavers VL, Lynch CF, Burmeister LF. Racial Differences in Factors that Influence the Willingness to Participate in Medical Research Studies. Annals of Epidemiology. 2002; 12:248-56.

56. Langford A, Resnicow K, An L. Clinical trial awareness among racial/ethnic minorities in HINTS 2007: sociodemographic, attitudinal, and knowledge correlates. Journal of health communication. 2010; 15 Suppl 3:92-101.

57. Whitfield KE. Commentary on the effects of knowledge, attitudes, and significant others on decisions of enroll in a clinical trial on osteoporosis. Journal of the National Medical Association. 2001; 93:402-4.

58. Lara PN, Jr., Paterniti DA, Chiechi C, Turrell C, Morain C, Horan N, et al. Evaluation of factors affecting awareness of and willingness to participate in cancer clinical trials. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2005; 23:9282-9.

59. Ford JG, Howerton MW, Bolen S, Gary TL, Lai GY, Tilburt J, et al. Knowledge and access to information on recruitment of underrepresented populations to cancer clinical trials. Evidence report/technology assessment (Summary). 2005:1-11.

60. Gadegbeku CA, Stillman PK, Huffman MD, Jackson JS, Kusek JW, Jamerson KA. Factors associated with enrollment of African Americans into a clinical trial: results from the African American study of kidney disease and hypertension. Contemporary clinical trials. 2008; 29:837-42.

61. Robinson SB, Ashley M, Haynes M. Attitudes of African-Americans regarding prostate cancer clinical trials. Journal of Community Health: The Publication for Health Promotion and Disease Prevention. 1996; 21:77-87.

62. Glanz K, Rimer BK, Viswanath K. Health behavior and health education: theory, research, and practice: John Wiley & Sons; 2008.

63. Frew PM, Archibald M, Hixson B, del Rio C. Socioecological influences on community involvement in HIV vaccine research. Vaccine. 2011; 29:6136-43.

64. Ajzen I. From intentions to actions: A theory of planned behavior: Springer; 1985.

65. Fishbein M, Ajzen, I. Belief, attitude, intention, and behavior. Menlo Park, CA: Addison-Wesley; 1975.

66. Frew PM, Archibald M, Martinez N, del Rio C, Mulligan MJ. Promoting HIV vaccine research in African American communities: does the theory of reasoned action explain potential outcomes of involvement? Challenge (Atlanta, Ga). 2007; 13:61.

67. Gagnon M-P, Godin G. Young adults and HIV vaccine: determinants of the intention of getting immunized. Canadian journal of public health= Revue canadienne de sante publique. 1999; 91:432-4.

68. Frew PM, Archibald M, Diallo DD, Hou S-I, Horton T, Chan K, et al. An extended model of reasoned action to understand the influence of individual-and network-level factors on African Americans' participation in HIV vaccine research. Prevention Science. 2010; 11:207-18.

69. Weinstein ND, Sandman PM, Blalock SJ. The precaution adoption process model. In: Glanz K, Rimer BK, Viswanath K, Glanz K, Rimer BK, Viswanath K, editors. Health behavior and health education: Theory, research, and practice (4th ed). San Francisco, CA, US: Jossey-Bass; 2008. p. 123-47.

70. Novak A. Application of the precaution adoption process model to reduce the risk of falls in healthy community-dwelling elders over the age of 65. US: ProQuest Information & Learning; 2011.

71. Lang R, Kelkar VA, Byrd JR, Edwards CL, Pericak-Vance M, Byrd GS. African American participation in health-related research studies: indicators for effective recruitment. Journal of public health management and practice : JPHMP. 2013; 19:110-8.

72. GA. MEaJ. Exploring Disparities in Access to Physician Services Among Older Adults: 2000–2007. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. 2013; 68:128-38.

73. M MAaG. Differences by race in the rates of procedures performed in hospitals for Medicare beneficiaries. Health Care Financ Rev. 1994; 15:77-90.

74. Collins KS HA, and Neuhaus C. U.S. Minority Health: A Chartbook1999.

75. Association AH. When I'm 64: How boomers will change health care: Chicago: American Hospital Association2007.

76. Blendon RJ BT, Cassidy EF, et al. Disparities in health: Perspectives of a multi-ethnic, multiracial America. Health Affairs. 2007; 26:1437-47.

77. Owens OL, Jackson DD, Thomas TL, Friedman DB, Hebert JR. African American men's and women's perceptions of clinical trials research: focusing on prostate cancer among a high-risk population in the South. Journal of health care for the poor and underserved. 2013; 24:1784-800.

78. Kramarow E LJ, Lentzner H, and Gorina Y. Trends In The Health Of Older Americans, 1970–2005. Health Aff 2007; 26:1417-25.

79. Williams DR SM. Understanding Racial-ethnic Disparities in Health Sociological Contributions. J Health Soc Behav. 2010; 51:S15-27.

Tolgo E, Banks, D, Pohl, Gray, and J. Ernat. Participation of Racial/Ethnic Groups in
Clinical Trials and Race-Related Labeling: A Review of New
Molecular Entities Approved
1995-1999. Journal of the National Medical Association. 2001; 93.

81. Shavers V, Lynch, Charles, and Leon F. Burmeister. Racial Differences in Factors that Influence the Willingness to Participate in Medical Research Studies. Race and Medical Research Participation. 2002; 12.

82. George S, Duran N, Norris K. A systematic review of barriers and facilitators to minority research participation among African Americans, Latinos, Asian Americans, and Pacific Islanders. American journal of public health. 2014; 104:e16-e31.

83. Burke NJ. Rethinking the therapeutic misconception: social justice, patient advocacy, and cancer clinical trial recruitment in the US safety net. BMC medical ethics. 2014; 15:68.

84. Brown RF, Cadet DL, Houlihan RH, Thomson MD, Pratt EC, Sullivan A, et al. Perceptions of participation in a phase I, II, or III clinical trial among African American patients with cancer: what do refusers say? Journal of Oncology Practice. 2013; 9:287-93.

85. Ghebre RG, Jones LA, Wenzel JA, Martin MY, Durant RW, Ford JG. State-of-the-science of patient navigation as a strategy for enhancing minority clinical trial accrual. Cancer. 2014; 120 Suppl 7:1122-30.

86. Glaser BG, Strauss AL, Strutzel E. The discovery of grounded theory; strategies for qualitative research. Nursing Research. 1968; 17:364.

87. Strauss A, Corbin, J. Basics of Qualitative Research: Grounded Theory Procedure and Techniques. Newbury Park, London: Sage; 1990.

FIGURES

Baseline Interview Guide

- 1. What motivated you to participate in this study?
- 2. Could you tell me about your thoughts on clinical trials and medical research?
- 3. Could you please describe a little bit about your community?
- 4. What does it mean to you to be part of the black community?
- 5. How does the black community feel about clinical research?
- 6. How do you think we can address the fears and myths surrounding clinical research?
- 7. How do you think we can get the black community involved in clinical research?
- 8. How can researchers find out about the concerns that exist in the black community?
- 9. Where do people in your congregation get their health information?

In-Depth Interview Guides For those who enrolled in a clinical trial:

A1: What was your impression of the Dose of Hope Program? What did you like or dislike? Why did you join?

A2: Why did you to contact the research team about joining the clinical trial [insert trial name here]?

A3: Why did you enroll?

A4: What do you think about clinical trials now that you have participated in one?

A5: Do you think you would enroll in another clinical trial? Would you (or have you) recommend(ed) clinical trial participation to others?

For those who screened for a clinical trial but did not enroll:

B1: What was your impression of the Dose of Hope Program? What did you like or dislike? Why did you join?

B2: Why did you to contact the research team about joining the clinical trial [insert trial name here]?

B3: Why didn't you enroll? Were there transportation issues, medical exclusions, scheduling issues, or something else? Do you feel like you had enough information to make a decision to enroll?

B4: Would you ever try enrolling in another clinical trial? Why or why not? For those who neither screened nor enrolled in a clinical trial:

C1: What was your impression of the Dose of Hope Program? What did you like or dislike? Why did you join?

C2: Why didn't you enroll in a clinical trial? Were there transportation issues, medical exclusions, scheduling issues, or something else? Do you feel like you had enough information to make a decision to enroll?

C3: Would you ever try enrolling in a clinical trial? Why or why not? What type of clinical trial might you be interested in?



TABLES

Theme	Quote
Attitudes	"I think they're [clinical trials are] great because they help people
	to find out what cures are out there and also to find out the
	diseases that families have generations ago "
	"My thoughts right now [about clinical trials] are a little um
	concerning based on history. Um, based on how um African
	Americans have been treated previously as it relates to clinical
	studies. So I'm a little concerned and a littleum a littleI'll just
	say a little concerned."
	"Oh I think it's [clinical trials are] super."
	"In my opinion, enough has not been done to educate the black
	community on clinical research. I think that those who have
	been educated about it are more likely to participate and those
	who have just heard the horror stories will not gravitate at all."
	"Oh I think it's [clinical trials are] very good. We need that.
Education	"And when I say gaining trust it's by giving people the true
	message about what research is all about. Giving them the inner
	works of that research letting them know what the research is all
	about other than just giving them the topical review of that
	research. Give them the inner message, give them what they
	need to know and the true meat of what research is all about. As
	I said, once by gaining the trust and if you give them the truth
	then everything will be all right."
	"Knowledge is very important. To know what's going on with
	your body, and that's one of the main things that you all brought
	out to us is things that we probably don't even think about or
	realize. Is just doing these studieswhat things can be brought
	out for our understanding for us to realize it's very important
	to take care of your body. so ya'll brought out some things that
	we need. By doing certain things you can prevent other things,
	so that's one of the main things that y'all brought out to us and
	even that we need to do some of these studies."
Trust	What fears, mistrust, and stigma related to clinical research exist
	in the black community?
	"Tuskegee. Tuskegee."
	"Do I know about any. No."
	"Um, there was a time when Black community didn't trust

Table 1. Baseline Themes

clinical research because we were forced upon to be used as
research guinea pigs. And uh, for now during this time has past
and now community is uh backing the community research
because we find that it will help the community out"

Table 2. In-Depth Interview Themes

Theme	Quote
Awareness (lack of)	"I: so, before they came to your church, were you aware of
	clinical trials at all?
	P: no. no,
	I: no, never hear anything about them?
	P: no."
\Need for	"I: Why did you decide to join (educational) program?
Knowledge	P:cause it's something that you need, and you might need to learn
	something from, you know what I'm saying?, you might not
	know some things that, that people know more of, so, it was a
	learning thing for me. Um, teaching me something that maybe I
	might want to call someone that has these issues"
Motivation to	"Well, I don't know that I have beenparticularly interested.
Participate in a Clinical	Like the first one kinda so to speak fell in my lap, and I didn't
Trial	mind doing it at all. And I also thought well that wasn't so bad,
	and so I did the second one, and I hadn't thought about it
	anymore except when the flu came on my internet. The flu one,
	I considered that one, that's about all. For those, those, and I
	don't know if I'll do another one or not. I guess it, probably
	depends on how much time and everything it entails, and also,
	um, I already have a lung problem so trying to be very careful
	about what kind of shots I take something like that, yeah. "
\Trust	"That's all I'm saying. I don't think that there's a distrust, I think
	there's a lack of information."
\\Peer Influence	"Well, I have to admit, I, I have a little bit more [trust] in people
	that I already know or that I'm associated with, or have built up a
	quote track record with, um, with others I'm probably a little less
	sure, and that's where the bedside manner comes in. to make me
\\Madieal Canter	feel comfortable about what they're doing."
\\Medical Center	"Oh I defiantly feel that (a medical center) is trustworthy. Oh
	yeah, I don't have a problem with that. They've got a really good
	name. The students that come out of there are, are highly
	trained, as far as I can tell it has a track record of being very influential But their track record is good and they seem to
	know what they're doing."
\Relevant Health	"My health is would be more what I would be interested in. you
	5
10000	а ,
	0 1
Topics	know. Um, ohI don't know. That's about it. I guess, you know. I have, well I do have, high blood pressure, and um, I take cholesterol medicine. So anything in my area, you know, I would be interested in."

"I wouldn't want to be in the group with a placeboI don't
know for some reason in my mind, I don't see getting the
placebo as helping me."
"I: So why did you end up joining (educational intervention)
program?
P: uh, originally I did it just because I was curious."
"I: okay, so what made you decide to um, participate in the studies?
P: um, cause I think the questions that they were asking in and it
was nothing invasive, and um, pretty easy for me to do."
"Asblacks or African Americans, we have a real fear when it
comes to studies. uh, most of the community I feel like, um, we, we feel like we're gonna be treated as guinea pigs. so, we back as far away as possible from that. okay, so that fear has just always been there. um, even I can go back as far as when I was 8, I guess 10 or 12 maybe, when my grandmother used to go to a doctor that had colored and white waiting rooms. so that fear
goes way back, even to then when they thought that the blacks were being treated one way and the whites were being treated one way. so that they always felt, I know my grandmosther did, always felt that you know, she really wasn't getting the best of care, but it was the best that she could get at the time. "
"It's the strangest thing. I just, I have always been, umshy of uh needles and I'm a medical technologist and I used to draw blood at the first part of the day years ago, for just working in a lab. I'm just, just would rather not with needles."
"I might be slightly hesitant on on some medications that um, have not truly been tried out for side effects, so I would not, I'd be a little leery at that. um, but maybe in the final stages of some some drugs um, that are proven to um, to work, I would probably be yeah, interested in doing those."
"Might be because of time, and now that I'm working and stuff,
cause I think to come for some of those programs on site, and it
might be um, might have been too far out of the way. Or time interference."
"I don't want to drive for so far"
"She said that they were drawing blood, like three times, and I
have sunken veins, and I told her no."
"I: yeah, like given a lot of information, is there anything else that might make you hesitate. P: naw, the only thing's knowing what, what they're given me."
P: naw, the only thing's knowing what , what they're given me."
"She said that they were drawing blood, like three times, and I have sunken veins, and I told her no So she said she
understood, and I told her I would be interested in something else, you knowand uh, she thanked me"

Education Intervention	
\Community-	"I: What about the program impressed you?
developed	P: Well, they included me."
program	
\Church-	"I thought it was a great because if it hadn't of come to my
Research	church I probably wouldn't have done it."
Partnership	"Well, really I guess the first thing that um, most favorite thing
1	was definitely getting the congregation involved."
\\Convenience	"It was really, really really nice, and then it's convenient cause it
((())))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))	was at the church and I knew where I was going."
\Trustworthy	"P: in everyone that came out, everyone was so honest and open
Source of	and they even from their own personal experience would tell you
Information	how it was and so, the info, the literature they gave was very
momuton	revealing of everything that would be involved in a study. And
	the paperwork that we signed, the study that they did here which
	didn't involve anything medical, everything that they signed it
	was it was always honest and upfront and you know, so. I know
	it's better then it used to be."
\\Persuasive	"I: okay. and why did you decide to join the dose of hope
Approach	program?
rippioaen	P: because my pastor, uh, announced one Sunday that um, (a
	medical center) wanted to do a study with the seniors. so he
	asked us uh, the seniors, would we participate. so that's how I
	found out about it, and I did. and It was three different three
	different events, or what did you call it, it's scheduled us three
	different times"
\\Knowledgeable	"They [the presenters] seemed knowledgeable; they had facts to
e	
Speakers	back up everything that they were speaking on. They were really
	engaging, they just appeared knowledgeable. They weren't just
	telling you tell you something. They whatever they were talking
	speaking on, they had data, they had facts, they had information
	right in front of you regarding it."
\Relevant	"They gave information say for instance for women, African
Content	American groups. When they would talk about the diabetes, they
	would center it around the African Americans, what would be
	important for me to know. So, the information that they gave
	was tailored just for me and my ethnicity. So that's what made it
	good."
\Reliable Source	"Then when they get around and they give you the books and the
for Continuous	papers and such to back up their claim, you know. You're going
Information	through that and you're reading the books and going through it.
	You know, it gives you a better insight you being able to
	understand what it's about."
\Supportive	"I thought all the speakers were very good. Very informative.
Environment	They knew their topic, they were friendly, they made people feel
	at ease, you know, and that helped."
	"It [the intervention] kinda met people where they were. So I

	felt that was good."
\Gift Card	"I did like the idea of getting a gift card."
Incentive	